NO. 09-2-03892-2 *COA# 42864-4-II* COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

12 MAR OF PHICE OF STATE OF PARTY OF STATE OF PARTY OF STATE OF ST

AMERICAN ALTERNATIVE INSURANCE CORPORATION,

Appellant,

CLARK COUNTY FIRE DISTRICT NO. 5,

Plaintiff,

v.

BULLIVANT HOUSER BAILEY, P.C., and RICHARD G. MATSON, Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Michael A. Patterson, WSBA No. 7976 Daniel P. Crowner, WSBA No. 37136 Of Attorneys for Appellant American Alternative Insurance Corporation

PATTERSON BUCHANAN FOBES LEITCH & KALZER, INC., P.S.

2112 Third Avenue, Suite 500 Seattle, WA 98121 Tel. 206.462.6700

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The trial court erred when it found that "[t]here is no genuine issue of material fact in dispute that Plaintiff American Alternative Insurance Corporation lacks standing to bring this lawsuit." Clerk's Papers (CP) at 698.
- 2. The trial court erred when it ordered that "[t]he Plaintiffs motion to strike the Defendants' affirmative defense that Plaintiff American Alternative Insurance Corporation lacks standing to bring this lawsuit is DENIED." CP at 698.
- 3. The trial court erred when it ordered that "[t]he Defendants' affirmative defense that Plaintiff American Alternative Insurance Corporation lacks standing to bring this lawsuit is GRANTED." CP at 698.
- 4. The trial court erred when it ordered that "[w]ith regard to the claims of Plaintiff American Alternative Insurance Corporation, judgment shall be entered in favor of the Defendants." CP at 698.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Under CR 56(c) and applicable Washington law, did the trial court err as a matter of law when it ruled that American Alternative Insurance Corporation lacks standing to bring a legal malpractice claim

against Bullivant Houser Bailey, P.C., and Richard G. Matson, who were retained and paid by American Alternative Insurance Corporation to defend its insured, Plaintiff Clark County Fire District No. 5? (Assignments of Error 1, 2, 3, and 4).

- 2. Under CR 56(c) and applicable Washington law, did the trial court err as a matter of law when it granted the affirmative defense of Bullivant Houser Bailey, P.C., and Richard G. Matson that American Alternative Insurance Corporation lacks standing to bring its legal malpractice claim? (Assignment of Error 3).
- 3. Under CR 56(c) and applicable Washington law, did the trial court err as a matter of law when, with respect to American Alternative Insurance Corporation's claims, it entered judgment in favor of Bullivant Houser Bailey, P.C., and Richard G. Matson? (Assignment of Error 4).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. SUBSTANTIVE FACTS

In 2005, American Alternative Insurance Corporation ("AAIC"), through Glatfelter Claims Management, Inc. ("GCM"), retained Bullivant Houser Bailey, P.C. ("BHB"), and its attorney Richard G. Matson ("Matson") to defend Clark County Fire District No. 5 ("the Fire District")

¹ GCM is a third-party administrator for Munich Reinsurance America, which wholly owns AAIC, an insurance provider. CP at 4-5, 19-20.

and Martin P. James ("James") against a lawsuit brought by Sue Collins, Helen Hayden, Valerie Larwick, and Kristy Mason. CP at 4, 24-27; *see also Collins v. Clark County Fire District No.* 5, 155 Wn. App. 48, 62-63, 231 P.3d 1211 (2010). Significantly, AAIC assumed this defense without a reservation of rights. CP at 61.

In their lawsuit, the plaintiffs raised many claims against the Fire District and James, including: outrage; negligent supervision; negligent retention; negligent infliction of emotional distress; and violations of the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) under chapter 49.60 RCW. *Collins*, 155 Wn. App. at 63.

Matson was purported to be experienced at trying sexual harassment cases in both state and federal courts. CP at 114-17. In reality, however, Matson cannot recall ever handling a case with an exposure over \$500,000.00. CP at 126. He had never tried a sexual harassment case in his career. CP at 78. He had never defended a sexual harassment case with multiple plaintiffs. CP at 79. In fact, Matson admitted that he had tried only one other employment case before *Collins*. CP at 114.

During the time of Matson's representation, BHB held itself out as being a team of experienced attorneys; yet as a firm, only about 3% of BHB's cases were made up of employment litigation. CP at 157-58. And

more importantly, the Vancouver, Washington office of BHB, of which Matson was the shareholder-in-charge, had been handling fewer and fewer cases of employment litigation: 1.2% in 2003; 1.0% in 2004; 0.7% in 2005; 0.6% in 2006; and 0.8% in 2007. CP at 152-60, 218-22.

Unfortunately, in defending the underlying plaintiffs' claims, the conduct of BHB and Matson fell far below the standard of care to which attorneys must comply. CP at 194, 198-99, 202-05, 209-10, 211-15, 300-01. Other than Matson, no other attorney – including associates, shareholders, and of counsel – at the Vancouver, Washington office of BHB practiced in the particular field of employment practices liability. CP at 161, 162-63. All other BHB attorneys who practiced in the field of employment practices liability practiced out of other BHB offices throughout the northwest. CP at 161.

Despite his lack of experience in handling cases of this nature, Matson did not consult with others at BHB who were more experienced. CP at 131. Matson did no research to determine what effect multiple plaintiffs claiming sexual harassment could have on the underlying case. CP at 81. And the associate attorney initially assigned to the case by Matson and BHB had no experience in handling sexual harassment claims, either. CP at 183-85. He was a bankruptcy attorney. CP at 181-82.

Early in the case, Matson was on notice that the plaintiffs' allegations were serious and that there was the potential for a multimillion dollar verdict. CP at 84-86, 96-97, 101-02. Despite this information, Matson somehow assumed that a jury would find James's conduct simply to be "lighthearted and banter." CP at 97. As a result, Matson filed no offers of judgment, no motions to bifurcate, and no other dispositive motions. CP at 79-80, 87, 89-90.

Matson admitted that "the big issue" with the plaintiffs' case was damages. CP at 140. Nevertheless, Matson took no steps to determine the likely measure of damages for the four plaintiffs. And he eschewed any review of potentially relevant jury verdicts, claiming they are "often not very helpful in trying to analyze what's going to happen in your case." CP at 105-06, 143-44.

Most egregiously, Matson did not engage in any substantive efforts to settle the case until mediation – almost *two years* after being retained in the underlying case and less than *two months* before the initial trial date. CP at 50, 68-69. Matson's failure in this regard is particularly egregious in light of the pleas from GCM's insurance adjustor to move the case into mediation.² CP at 195.

² In late 2006 and early 2007, GCM's insurance adjustor sought the help of Ohio attorney Katherine Hart Smith to review several issues related to

Matson never completed an evaluation regarding the value of the plaintiffs' claims until just weeks before the mediation. CP at 50, 57. And when Matson finally completed this evaluation, he woefully underestimated the value of the case. His opinion that \$370,000.00 was a fair and reasonable sum for purposes of settling the plaintiffs' multimillion dollar claims was not supported by any research or analysis. CP at 68, 106-07 504-10.

Matson admitted that, between him and the insurer, he was in the best position to determine the value of these types of cases and to determine liability and damages exposure in these types of cases in the Vancouver, Washington market. CP at 112. He also testified that AAIC, the Fire District, and James were entitled to reasonably rely upon him in making decisions about settlement. CP at 141-42.

Accordingly, relying on Matson's evaluation and advice, AAIC, through its third-party administrator GCM, brought \$400,000.00 in settlement authority for a mediation in the underlying case. CP at 49. But by the time of the mediation, the plaintiffs substantially increased their settlement demands to more than \$8 million. CP at 51. GCM's

the underlying case. CP at 236-37, 241. Hart Smith is an employment law attorney who sometimes handles claims assigned to her by GCM, and who occasionally consults with GCM in regard to cases being handled by local counsel. CP at 228-29, 230-31, 232-34.

representative repeatedly asked Matson why the parties' evaluations of the underlying case were so different. CP at 52-53. Matson could not provide any answer, except to say that his evaluation of the plaintiffs' claims was correct. CP at 54-56, 59, 69-71. When the mediation in the underlying case failed, AAIC, the Fire District, and James reluctantly, and unfortunately, headed to trial. CP at 58, 68.³

During the trial of the underlying case,⁴ Matson proceeded on a defense strategy premised on a fundamentally erroneous understanding of the law. Matson placed heavy emphasis on blaming plaintiff Collins for the hostile work environment on the basis that she participated in the inappropriate banter with James. CP at 96-97, 211-12. But Matson's defense strategy actually served to bolster the other three plaintiffs' hostile work environment claims.⁵ CP at 211-12.

³ GCM's representative recalled, "When I sat at mediation and my counsel tells me there's no way these numbers are wrong, they're barking up the wrong tree, they're totally unrealistic, I'm in a position where I have to go to trial and that's when I said we'd go to trial." CP at 58.

⁴ At the urging of GCM's representative, Hart Smith agreed to assist Matson in trying the case. CP at 242-44. Hart Smith was admitted *pro hac vice*; she arrived in Vancouver, Washington, shortly before the trial. CP at 235, 240. She was not present during the entire trial due to previous commitments. CP at 107. But Matson was present during the entire trial, during which he served as lead trial counsel. CP at 186-87.

⁵ As the trial court noted in its Memorandum of Decision:

After a lengthy trial, the plaintiffs' attorney in the underlying case ended his closing argument by requesting \$1 million in non-economic damages for each plaintiff. *Collins*, 155 Wn. App. at 72-73. The plaintiffs' attorney argued in closing:

The amount that's being sought will not in any way reduce fire services, hurt the department. It's not going to do anything that will hurt services in any way, or raise taxes, do any of the bogeys that might be mentioned. It will not happen. We know that.

What you need to do, please, is put a value on their suffering that other departments will look up and say, "We can't do that." Put a value on what they have experienced and compensate them to a level that says, "If you do this serious consequences flow, and we compensate people as they are injured." And in so doing, help let the commissioners know the answer to the question they felt had to go to you all to be decided. And in so doing, also let HR departments know that there's a better structure, there's a better way to do this.

HR departments don't exist for the protection of the City. HR departments don't exist for the protection of the company. Let them know that they have to be up there with a viable means for somebody who's experiencing harassment to step forward and bring it forth in a safe way.

It is clear that [Sue Collins's] outrageous behavior at the employment site was totally inappropriate and should have been corrected by her supervisor Marty James. James had a clear duty and responsibility as director of the Training Center to prevent any such actions from taking place. It is clear from some of the jury's findings that not only did he permit it to occur, but he helped promote some of the specific activities in question.

CP at 282.

And an award of \$1 million [to each of the four women] ... is the best way you can do that.

Collins, 155 Wn. App. at 72-73. Matson did not object to this, or any other, portion of the closing argument by the plaintiffs' attorney. *Collins*, 155 Wn. App. at 73.

After its deliberations, the jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiffs, awarding substantial judgments to each of them. Collins, 155 Wn. App. at 73-74. The jury's award to the plaintiffs totaled more than \$3.5 million, or almost 10 times more than what Matson had evaluated the case for settlement purposes. Collins, 155 Wn. App. at 73-74; CP at 276-87. 6 In response, the Fire District and James filed post-trial motions for: (1) a new trial or remittitur under CR 59(a); (2) judgment as a matter of law under CR 50(b); and (3) a new trial or remittitur under RCW 4.76.030. Collins, 155 Wn. App. at 74. With the exception of reducing the jury's award to Larwick, the trial court denied their motions. Collins, 155 Wn. App. at 74-75; CP at 276-87. Nevertheless, even after the remittitur reduction, the award to the plaintiffs in the underlying case was more than \$3.1 million, or almost nine times more than what Matson had evaluated the case for settlement purposes. Collins, 155 Wn. App. at 73-74, 76-80; CP at 276-87.

⁶ The trial court also awarded the plaintiffs' attorney \$752,854.21 in attorney fees and costs. CP at 287.

The Fire District and James appealed the trial court's denial of their post-trial motion for a new trial under CR 59(a) and partial denial of their post-trial motion for a remittitur under RCW 4.76.030. *Collins*, 155 Wn. App. at 80-81. Larwick appealed the trial court's remittitur reduction of the jury's award to her. *Collins*, 155 Wn. App. at 81. And both Collins and Larwick appealed the trial court's award of attorney fees and costs. *Collins*, 155 Wn. App. at 81.

Ultimately, this court affirmed the trial court's denial of the post-trial motions for a new trial under CR 59(a) and partial denial of the post-trial motions for remittitur under RCW 4.76.030. *Collins*, 155 Wn. App. at 81-87, 93-97, 105. This court reversed the trial court's remittitur reduction of the jury's award to Larwick, *Collins*, 155 Wn. App. at 87-93, and affirmed the trial court's award of attorney fees and costs. *Collins*, 155 Wn. App. at 98-104, 105. Finally, this court awarded attorney fees and costs on appeal to Collins and Larwick. *Collins*, 155 Wn. App. at 104-05.

In sum, the supplemental judgment following appeal, for which AAIC indemnified the Fire District, totaled more than \$4.8 million (not including interest of 7.007%). CP at 289-93.

⁷ The attorney fees and costs on appeal totaled \$116,650.69. CP at 291.

II. PROCEDURAL FACTS

After two failed mediations, the Fire District and AAIC filed and served their complaint against BHB and Matson for professional negligence in August 2009. CP at 295-302. In their complaint, the Fire District and AAIC alleged that BHB and Matson breached their duty of care to act as reasonable and prudent legal practitioners in Washington state. CP at 300-01. The Fire District and AAIC further alleged that, as a direct and proximate result of BHB's and Matson's negligence, they suffered financial damages, including additional attorney fees and costs for post-trial motions, mediations, and appellate matters. CP at 301.

In response, BHB and Matson filed and served their answer. CP at 304-11. Among other things therein, BHB and Matson asserted the following defenses. CP at 309-10. First, they asserted that AAIC lacks standing to bring the lawsuit. CP at 310. Second, they asserted an affirmative defense of "contributory negligence." CP at 310. Third, they asserted that Matson is shielded from claims arising from his improper conduct based on "judgmental immunity." CP at 310.

The Fire District and AAIC filed a summary judgment motion, arguing that the trial court should summarily dismiss the above-referenced affirmative defenses. CP at 313-43. Among other things, the Fire District and AAIC argued that, under *Bohn v. Cody*, 119 Wn.2d 357, 832 P.2d 71

(1992), and *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994), BHB and Matson owed a duty to AAIC in the underlying case. CP at 327-33. Thus, the Fire District and AAIC argued that AAIC, as the most financially injured party, had standing to bring the present lawsuit. CP at 333. BHB and Matson filed a response, and argued for summary judgment in their favor. CP at 346-96.8

Initially, the trial court agreed with the Fire District and AAIC that AAIC had standing to bring the present lawsuit. Report of Proceedings (RP) at 8. Then the trial court indicated that it was not going to rule on the motion. RP at 8-9. Finally, the trial court agreed with BHB and Matson that AAIC has no standing to bring the present lawsuit, reasoning that AAIC was not their client. RP at 16-19.

Thereafter, the trial court entered its order, which dismissed AAIC from the present lawsuit. CP at 695-99. The trial court certified its order under CR 54(b) to facilitate an immediate appeal of the issues presented before it for summary judgment. CP at 696-98; RP at 21-22. AAIC now appeals. CP at 700-06.

⁸ The parties and the trial court agreed to continue the motions to strike the affirmative defenses of contributory negligence and judgmental immunity. CP at 698-99.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING AAIC FROM THE PRESENT LAWSUIT FOR LACK OF STANDING

In denying the summary judgment motion brought by the Fire District and AAIC, the trial court stated, "Under Washington law, [an attorney's] duty is to his client.... His *only* duty is to his client." RP at 16 (emphasis added). But this absolute statement is contrary to our Supreme Court's precedent and is an error of law. *See, e.g., Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 842-43, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994); *Stangland v. Brock*, 109 Wn.2d 675, 680-81, 747 P.2d 464 (1987); *see also In re Guardianship of Karan*, 110 Wn. App. 76, 81, 38 P.3d 396 (2002) ("[A]n attorney may owe a nonclient a duty even in the absence of this privity."). For the reasons stated herein, this court should: (1) reverse the trial court's order dismissing AAIC from the present lawsuit; (2) conclude that Matson and BHB owed a duty to AAIC, which creates standing for AAIC to sue for legal malpractice; and (3) remand for trial on the remaining elements of negligence.

⁹ Inexplicably, the trial court also stated, "That's what I'm going with in terms of the duty of attorneys to clients, OK? I'm not overruling *Trask*. I'm not doing anything more. I'm just letting it hang out there." RP at 19.

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

On an appeal from summary judgment, this court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Hisle v. Todd Pac. Shipyards Corp.*, 151 Wn.2d 853, 860-61, 93 P.3d 108 (2004) (citing *Kruse v. Hemp*, 121 Wn.2d 715, 722, 853 P.2d 1373 (1993)); *see* CR 56(c). Here, the facts underlying the relationship between AAIC, the Fire District, BHB, and Matson are not in dispute. Simply put, the question on appeal before this court is whether BHB and Matson owed a duty to AAIC, which creates standing for AAIC to sue for legal malpractice. "And that is a question of law to be decided by [this court]." *Karan*, 110 Wn. App. at 81; *see also Trask*, 123 Wn.2d at 842-43; *Bohn v. Cody*, 119 Wn.2d 357, 362, 832 P.2d 71 (1992) ("An appellate court reviews de novo a trial court's summary judgment decision.").

B. MORE THAN 25 YEARS AGO, OUR SUPREME COURT RECOGNIZED THAT AN ATTORNEY MAY OWE A DUTY TO A THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARY

Despite sharp doctrinal differences in recognizing attorney-client relationships, the vast majority of courts across the United States recognize the existence of a duty beyond the confines of those in privity to the attorney-client contract. 1 Ronald E. Mallen & Jeffrey M. Smith, Legal Malpractice, §7:8 (2011 ed.); see One Nat'l Bank v. Antonellis, 80 F.3d 606 (1st Cir. 1996); In re Raymond Prof'l Group, Inc., 400 B.R.

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