# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

### AMERICAN ALTERNATIVE INSURANCE CORPORATION,

Appellant,

### CLARK COUNTY FIRE DISTRICT NO. 5

Plaintiff,

v.

BULLIVANT HOUSER BAILEY, P.C., and RICHARD G. MATSON

Respondents,

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS** 

Ray P. Cox, WSBA # 16250 Richard R. Roland, WSBA # 18588 Of Attorneys for Respondents Bullivant Houser Bailey, P.C. and Richard G. Matson

FORSBERG & UMLAUF, P.S. 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1400 Seattle, Washington 98164 Telephone: (206) 689-8500

COURT OF WASHINGTON

## **

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

This is in effect an Interlocutory Appeal brought from the Clark County Superior Court.

This case was initially filed in Clark County Superior Court in August 2009. CP 295-302. The complaint asserts claims for professional negligence. CP 300-301.

Defendants Bullivant Houser Bailey and Richard Matson filed an Answer responding to the complaint. CP 304-311. Noting that one of the plaintiffs, AAIC, was the liability insurer of its clients, and recognizing that Washington law does not impose a legal duty on insurance defense attorneys to the insurer who assigns them to represent and defend the insurer's insureds

4

defendants alleged an affirmative defense of lack of standing in their Answer. CP 310.

In September 2011, plaintiffs filed a motion for partial summary judgment requesting in part, that the trial court dismiss the defendants' affirmative defense of AAIC's lack of standing. CP 327.

Defendants thereafter filed a Response including a request for summary judgment dismissal of AAIC's claims based on a lack of standing. CP 346.

Oral Argument was heard in Clark County Superior Court in October 14, 2011. The Trial Court entered an order dismissing the claims of AAIC against the defendants on the ground that AAIC has no legal standing as the insurance carrier of Clark County Fire District No. 5 to bring claims for legal malpractice against the defendants. CP 695-699.

The order of the trial court was certified under CR 54(b), and AAIC has filed this Appeal prior to the commencement or conclusion of trial in the Superior Court.

The case in the trial court of Clark County continues forward on the claims for legal malpractice brought against the defendants by their client in the underlying action Clark County Fire District No. 5.

5

#### **ARGUMENT**

A. THE TRIAL COURT RULING DISMISSING AAIC'S LEGAL MALPRACTICE CLAIMS FOR LACK OF STANDING WAS CORRECT.

The Trial Court was correct in granting the underlying defendants'/respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment and in dismissing the claims alleged for legal malpractice there by plaintiff/petitioner insurance carrier American Alternative Insurance Corporation against defendant attorneys Bullivant Houser Bailey, P.C. and Richard G. Matson (hereinafter "defendants"). Based on its legal responsibility under its contract of insurance with its insureds, the underlying defendants Clark County Fire District No. 5 and Marty James, AAIC assigned the defendant attorneys to represent and defend the separate interests of those insureds against claims alleging employment discrimination and other causes of action in the underlying action.

As an insurer, AAIC did <u>not</u> have <u>any</u> attorney-client relationship with the defendant attorneys. Mr. Matson did not represent AAIC as its counsel in the underlying matter and had <u>no</u> attorney-client relationship with AAIC; nor did his firm, Bullivant Houser Bailey, P.C. ("BHB").

Lacking any attorney-client or any representational relationship with AAIC, under existing Washington law, the attorney defendants had no legal duty of representation to AAIC. Concomitantly, as a matter of law, AAIC

6

has no legal right or legal standing under Washington law to bring claims for legal malpractice against either Mr. Matson or BHB.

Under current Washington law, a liability insurer such as AAIC has no legal standing as a non-client third party to bring a suit for legal malpractice against a defense attorney it has assigned to represent the separate interests of the insurance carrier's insured, based on actions of the assigned defense attorney performed on behalf of the attorney's actual client, the insured.

The correct decision of the Trial Court should be affirmed.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW.

The purpose of summary judgment is "to do away with useless trials and issues which cannot be factually supported, or, if factually supported, could not, as a matter of law lead to a result favorable to a non-moving party." *Burris v. General Insurance Company of America*, 16 Wn. App. 73, 553 P.2d 125 (1976). In reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the Court of Appeals engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. *Higgins v. Stafford*, 123 Wn.2d 160, 168, 866 P.3d 31 (1994). Whether a party has standing to sue is a question of law that will be reviewed *de novo. Spokane Airports v. RMA, Inc.*, 149 Wn. App. 930, 939, 206 P.3d 364 (2009), *review denied*, 167 Wn.2d 1017, 224 P.3d 773 (2010).

"The nonmoving party may not rely on speculation or argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain." *Marshall v. Bally's PacWest, Inc.*, 94 Wn. App. 372, 377, 972 P.2d 475 (1999).

B. <u>CURRENT WASHINGTON LAW SUPPORTS THE TRIAL COURT RULING THAT THERE IS NO LEGAL DUTY IMPOSED ON AN ASSIGNED INSURANCE DEFENSE COUNSEL TO A NON-CLIENT, THIRD-PARTY INSURANCE CARRIER.</u>

It is well established that "the general rule is that the obligation of the attorney is to his client, and not to a third party . . ." *National Savings Bank v. Ward*, 100 U.S. 195, 200, 25 L. Ed. 621 (1880). "The standards of the legal profession require undeviating fidelity of the lawyer to his client. No exceptions can be tolerated." *Tank v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 105 Wn.2d 381, 388, 715 P.2d 1133, 1137 (1986) (citing *Van Dyke v. White*, 55 Wn.2d 601, 613, 349 P.2d 430 (1960).

Traditionally, the only person who could bring a lawsuit for attorney malpractice was an attorney's client. *Bohn v. Cody*, 119 Wn.2d 357, 364-65, 832 P.2d 71 (1992); *Stangland v. Brock*, 109 Wn.2d 675, 747 P.2d 464 (1987); 2 R. Mallen & J. Smith, Legal Malpractice § 26.4 (3d ed. 1989).

Almost 20 years ago, the Washington Supreme Court articulated specific rules which defined the limited circumstances in which a non-client third-party to a separately-existing attorney-client relationship could show that the attorney owed the third-party a separate legal duty and thus, gain

standing to bring a legal malpractice claim against the attorney. *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994).

Since 1994, over 60 Washington Cases which have either applied or discussed the *Trask v. Butler* rule. As AAIC correctly notes in its own brief on appeal, over that same period, the Washington Courts have <u>never</u> ruled in favor of any insurer that an attorney assigned by an insurance company to represent and defend the separate interests of the insurance company's insured, has a separate legal duty to the insurance company based on that representation. *Appellant's Opening Brief*, p. 18.

This Court need look no further than Plaintiffs' own standard of care expert regarding the legal standing of AAIC to prosecute this action. In his specific report and testimony addressing the issue of whether AAIC has standing, plaintiffs' expert clearly conceded:

Washington jurisprudence has not directly addressed whether the relationship between the insurer and counsel assigned to represent the insured creates a duty of care owed to the insurer by counsel so as to confer standing on the insurer to sue assigned counsel for malpractice during the course of the insured's defense.

CP at 595.

The Trial Court below agreed with the existing state of Washington law and dismissed AAIC's legal malpractice claims in this case that are alleged against the defendant attorneys, for lack of standing. CP at 695-699. Plaintiffs' argument on this appeal is effectively that this Court should singly

9

ignore the legal and practical realities of the adversarial nature of the insurance carrier-insured relationship, and unwisely impose a separate and inherently conflicted additional duty of representation in favor of the insurer upon a defense counsel representing an insured, essentially requiring counsel to simultaneously serve as counsel for both the insurer and its insured.

As a general matter, Washington courts have been reluctant to "extend professional malpractice protection to third parties" in legal malpractice actions . McKasson v. State, 55 Wn. App. 18, 28, 776 P.2d 971 (1989) (broker's attorney not liable for failing to inform investors that broker was engaged in unauthorized practice of law); see Trask, 123 Wn.2d at 845, 872 P.2d 1080 (attorney hired by the personal representative of an estate did not owe a duty of care to the estate or to the estate beneficiaries); Bowman v. John Doe Two, 104 Wn.2d 181, 188-89, 704 P.2d 140 (1985) (attorney did not owe a duty to his client's adversary, the mother, where attorney was hired by child in child's petition for alternative residential placement away from his mother); Leipham v. Adams, 77 Wn. App. 827, 832-34, 894 P.2d 576 (1995) (where attorney gave decedent limited representation and did not lead decedent to believe that he was undertaking general estate planning, attorney did not owe a duty to estate beneficiaries for failing to advise decedent to file a disclaimer of joint tenancy interest); Harrington v. Pailthorp, 67 Wn. App. 901, 905-10, 841 P.2d 1258 (1992) (no duty was owed by attorney to plaintiff where attorney represented plaintiff's former wife in custody modification

proceeding); see also Morgan v. Roller, 58 Wn. App. 728, 732-33, 794 P.2d 1313 (1990) (attorney did not have a duty to disclose his views of his client's disability to the beneficiaries of his client's testamentary plan).

C. AUTHORITY IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS SUPPORTS THE CURRENT STATE OF WASHINGTON LAW THAT AN INSURANCE DEFENSE COUNSEL OWES NO SEPARATE DUTY OF REPRESENTATION TO ITS ASSIGNING INSURANCE CARRIER.

Several jurisdictions specifically hold that there is no duty by assigned defense counsel to the insurer allowing the insurer to make a claim against the lawyer for legal malpractice. *See, e.g., Federal Ins. Co. v. North American Specialty Ins. Co.*, 47 A.D.3d 52, 59, 847 N.Y.S.2d 7, 12 (N.Y.A.D. 1 Dept., 2007).

'New York courts impose a strict privity requirement to claims of legal malpractice; an attorney is not liable to a third party for negligence in performing services on behalf of his client' (Lavanant v. General Acc. Ins. Co., 164 A.D.2d 73, 81, 561 N.Y.S.2d 164 [1990], affd. 79 N.Y.2d 623, 584 N.Y.S.2d 744, 595 N.E.2d 819 [1992]; see also D'Amico v. First Union Natl. Bank, 285 A.D.2d 166, 172, 728 N.Y.S.2d 146 [2001], lv. denied, 99 N.Y.2d 501, 752 N.Y.S.2d 588, 782 N.E.2d 566 [2002]). Thus, absent an attorney-client relationship, a cause of action for legal malpractice cannot be stated (Baystone Equities, Inc. v. Handel-Harbour, 27 A.D.3d 231, 809 N.Y.S.2d 904 [2006]; Linden v. Moskowitz, 294 A.D.2d 114, 115, 743 N.Y.S.2d 65 [2002], lv. denied, 99 N.Y.2d 505, 755 N.Y.S.2d 712, 785 N.E.2d 734 [2003]).

See also Safeway Managing General Agency, Inc. v. Clark & Gamble, 985 S.W.2d 166, 168 (Tex. App.-San Antonio, 1998).

In Texas, the law is well settled that no attorney-client relationship exists between an insurance carrier and the

attorney it hires to defend one of the carrier's insureds. *Bradt v. West*, 892 S.W.2d 56, 77 (Tex. App.-Houston [1st Dist.] 1994, writ denied); *cf. State Farm Mutual Auto. Ins. Co. v. Traver*, 980 S.W.2d 625, 627–28 (1998) (noting the attorney owes unqualified loyalty to the insured).

Courts in many jurisdictions have simply concluded that the insured is the sole client of defense counsel retained by an insurer. See, e.g., Cont'l Cas. Co. v. Pullman, Comley, Bradley & Reeves, 929 F.2d 103, 108 (2nd Cir. (Conn.) 1991) (holding that in an insurance context, attorney owes allegiance to insured, not to insurer who retained him); First Am. Carriers, Inc. v. Kroger Co., 302 Ark. 86, 787 S.W.2d 669, 671 (1990) (holding that when insurer retains lawyer to defend insured, insured is lawyer's client); Mich. Millers Mut. Ins. Co. v. Bronson Plating Co., 197 Mich. App. 482, 496 N.W.2d 373, 378 (1992) (holding that no attorney-client relationship exists between insurer and attorney representing insured; attorney's sole duty and loyalty is to insured); Jackson v. Trapier, 42 Misc.2d 139, 247 N.Y.S.2d 315, 316 (1964) (concluding that insured and not insurer is client of defense attorney, even if insurer chose and paid for counsel); Point Pleasant Canoe Rental, Inc. v. Tinicum Township, 110 F.R.D. 166, 170 (E.D.Pa. 1986) (holding that when insurer retains attorney to defend insured, insured is attorney's client); Petrowski v. Norwich Free Academy, 2 Conn. App. 551, 563, 481 A.2d 1096, 1104 (1984) ("under Connecticut law, '[t]he test of the attorney-client relationship is not who pays the bills, but to whom allegiance is owed.").

12

Defense counsel in some jurisdictions are prohibited from even forming an attorney-client relationship with the insurer. *See, e.g., First Am. Carriers, Inc. v. Kroger Co.*, 302 Ark. 86, 787 S.W.2d 669, 671 (1990); *Higgins v. Karp*, 239 Conn. 802, 687 A.2d 539, 543 (1997); *Atlanta Intern. Ins. Co. v. Bell*, 438 Mich. 512, 475 N.W.2d 295, 296 (1991); *In re Rules of Prof'l Conduct*, 299 Mont. 321, 2 P.3d 806, 814 (2000) (relying on Montana Rules of Professional Conduct to hold that insured is sole client of defense counsel).

Case law in many other jurisdictions recognizes the inherent potential conflicts that arise between the insured and the insurer when the insurer retains defense attorneys. *See, e.g., Mutual Serv. Cas. Ins. Co. v. Luetmer*, 474 N.W.2d 365, 368 (Minn. App. 1991) (citing Bogard v. Employers Cas. Co., 164 Cal. App. 3d 602, 210 Cal. Rptr. 578, 582 (1985)) (counsel selected by insurer may have compelling interest in protecting rights of insurer rather than rights of insured because of counsel's closer ties with insurer).

Virtually all courts outside of Washington hold that attorneys hired by an insurance company to defend their insureds' interests on underlying claims "owe their allegiance to their clients, the insureds, to best represent their interests." *Miller v. Shugart*, 316 N.W.2d 729, 733 (Minn. 1982) (emphasis added).

In Miller v. Shugart, the Minnesota Supreme Court addressed a number of inherent potential conflicts between an insurer and its insured

649459 / 1135.0001 13

involving "cooperation" and "settlement" and relied on a provision of the Minnesota Code of Professional Responsibility which precludes attorneys from allowing someone who employs counsel for another from interfering with legal representation of the client:

[The insurer] cannot complain that the lawyers it hired to represent the insureds were not working in the best interests of [the insurer]. 'A lawyer shall not permit a person who recommends, employs or pays him to render legal services for another to direct or regulate his professional judgment in rendering such legal services.'

Citing, Minnesota Code of Professional Responsibility, DR 5-107(B) (1980), now embodied in Minn. R. Prof. Conduct 5.4(c).

Washington attorneys are governed by Rules of Professional Conduct which contain the <u>identical</u> prohibition as the Minnesota rules. *See*, Washington Rules of Professional Conduct 5.4(5)(c).

D. THE NON-WASHINGTON AUTHORITY CITED BY APPELLANT DOES NOT APPLY TO THE SPECIFIC FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES OF THIS ACTION.

AAIC initially seeks to validate its argument by offering a string-citation implying the existence of favorable legal authorities from outside Washington. *Appellant's Opening Brief*, pp. 14-16. On examination and analysis, these "authorities" are effectively of no moment to the specific issue here as to whether an insurance defense counsel owes a separate duty to the insurance carrier who assigned it to defend the carrier's insured, counsel's actual client. These cases merely represent a collection of instances where

14

courts outside of Washington have discussed various scenarios where the parties have litigated an issue of whether an attorney may owe a duty to a third party other than its specific client.

Separately or taken together, these "authorities" presented by the Appellant from jurisdictions other than Washington provide little, if any, guidance to resolution of the issues here. Most do not discuss the "multifactor test" for determining the existence of a duty to a non-client and hence would not even be characterized as persuasive authority for Washington courts. Additionally, the vast majority of the cases involve issues where the dispute over a lawyer's duty of representation to non-client third-parties involved either Probate or Guardianship proceedings and had no relation to the circumstances of the tri-partite relationship between insurer, insured and assigned defense counsel.

Of the 33 cases cited by the Appellant, only one case addresses the issue of an insurance defense attorney's possible duty to his or her assigning non-client insurance carrier.<sup>1</sup>

In sum, the out-of-state authority noted by AAIC in support of its request that this Court alter the *status quo* of Washington law which limits the duty that Washington attorneys owe to non-client third-parties, is no more

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